RECEIVED

Mar 27 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2025-000531

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South CarolinaRespondent,

v.

Tremaine Pierre Johnson.....Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
803-445-1333
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tremaine Pierre Johnson, Petitioner, was indicted by the Spartanburg County grand jury for murder (2019-GS- 42-2045). He and his co-defendant, Robert Tyrell Gentry, were tried before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury between June 14th and June 17th, 2021. Gentry was indicted for accessory before and after the fact of murder. Petitioner was represented by N. Douglas Brannon; the State was represented by Barry Barnette and Jennifer Elizabeth Wells. Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to life in prison.

After a timely filed appeal of the case, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Johnson's conviction and sentence. App. 1-3. *State of South Carolina v. Tremaine Pierre Johnson*, Unpublished Opinion No. 2025-UP-018 (*filed* January 23, 2025). Petitioner then file a petition for rehearing on February 3rd, 2025, App. 4-17, which was denied February 19, 2025. App. 18.

This petition for a writ of certiorari timely follows.

RELEVANT FACTS

Petitioner was charged and convicted for the murder of Brechue Ferrarri Wiles (Bree). ROA 14, 109. Petitioner was tried along with his co-defendant, Robert Gentry, who was charged with accessory before and after the fact of murder. ROA 14-15.

Bree Wiles lived at Campus Edge Apartments near the campus of the University of South Carolina Upstate. ROA 110. On May 9, 2018, Bree shopped at Stein Mart with her mother, Fontae Wiles (Ms. Wiles). ROA 126. The two went out shopping for clothes for Ms. Wiles to wear to her aunt's 60th birthday dinner party. ROA 127. Ms. Wiles lived with her aunt, Joann Frances Littlejohn (Ms. Littlejohn), for whom the party was being thrown. ROA 125. Around 8:00 pm that night, they

returned to the residence and found themselves locked out of the home. ROA 126. The two sat in Bree's car and waited for Ms. Littlejohn to return and let them into the house.

After everyone was settled into the house, Ms. Littlejohn was preparing dinner when Bree received a phone call. ROA 127. The phone call was reportedly from a male. ROA 130. Ms. Littlejohn and Ms. Wiles heard Bree talking loudly on the phone during the entirety of the conversation. ROA 127. Shortly after the call ended, Bree informed her mother and aunt that she was going to meet someone and would be right back. ROA 128. Ms. Wiles testified that she recalled Bree saying that she was going to meet someone at Duncan Park near the water. ROA 138. Both women pleaded with Bree not to go out because they thought it was too late, but Bree insisted on leaving. ROA 128. Throughout the night, Ms. Wiles repeatedly called and texted Bree and told her to come home. ROA 130. She recalled hearing a male on the other line saying, "we have to go, come on, hang up the phone, we gotta go." ROA 130. Bree never came home that night. ROA 130.

The next day, May 10th, Ms. Wiles and Ms. Littlejohn went to work. ROA 131. They both worked for the same nursing home. Around noon, neither had heard from Bree. Ms. Wiles became concerned. ROA 131. It was customary for Bree to speak to her mother around noon every day. ROA 131. Ms. Wiles continued to work until 4:30 pm. After she got off work, Ms. Wiles took Ms. Littlejohn's car and traveled to Bree's apartment to see if she could find Bree or her car. She could not find either. She then went to Tremaine Johnson's house. ROA 131. Mr. Johnson and Bree had been in a relationship.

Mr. Johnson's mother answered the door and informed Ms. Wiles she had not seen Bree or Mr. Johnson at that point. ROA 142. Ms. Johnson called her son, who also stated he had not seen Bree in the last couple of days. ROA 142. He told her he last saw her on Tuesday. ROA 143. Ms.

Wiles left and went home. Later that day, Bree's younger sister posted on Facebook stating that her sister was missing. ROA 144.

On the morning of May 11th, Mr. Louis Dischler (Mr. Dischler) took his daily morning walk through Duncan Park. ROA 120. Mr. Dischler, who lived 500-600 feet away from where the body was discovered, testified the park has two trails that run through it. ROA 121, 122. One is an asphalt trail and runs through the woods, the other is unimproved and runs directly into the lake. ROA 121. Mr. Dischler took the second trail towards the lake. As he walked alongside the lake, he noticed a shoe. ROA 121. According to him, this was not a shoe that someone would take walking on a trail. He referred to it as a "street shoe." ROA 121. He continued to walk and found a second shoe close by. ROA 121. He proceeded along the trail where he eventually found a body of what appeared to be "a girl of small stature" face down by the lake. ROA 121. Mr. Dischler did not have his cellphone. ROA 121. He returned to the entrance of the path where he found another person walking and asked them to call 911. ROA 122. He waited at a picnic table until the police showed up to investigate the scene. ROA 122.

In a nearby parking lot, law enforcement found Bree's car. One of the car doors had been left open. ROA 153. Investigators used the canine unit to track her scent. ROA 155. The canine went straight from the smell of the car directly to where Bree's body had been found in the lake. ROA 159, 160. This led investigators to believe that her body was taken to the lake directly from the car. ROA 160. Forensics confirmed that it was Bree's body in the lake. On that same day, Ms. Wiles had gone to the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office to file a missing person's report. ROA 144. Ms. Littlejohn met her there. ROA 132. While the police talked to Ms. Wiles, Bree's body was being discovered by the officers at the lake. ROA 133. Law enforcement informed Ms. Wiles. ROA 133.

After identifying it was Bree Wiles's body in the lake, Investigator Chris Taylor of the Spartanburg Police Department tried to find out who was the last person Bree was with. ROA 353. He spoke with Ms. Wiles and Ms. Littlejohn who told Taylor she was a relationship with Tremaine Johnson at the time of her death. ROA 354. Investigator Taylor contacted Tremaine's mother, and through her, Mr. Johnson himself. ROA 354. The investigators met Mr. Johnson at his residence. He was then taken to the police station. ROA 354.

During the investigation, Mr. Johnson gave police consent to search his phone, as well as a buccal swab. ROA 358-59. Investigators extracted data from Mr. Johnson's cell phone and found there had been communication between he and another individual, Robert Gentry, leading up to Bree's disappearance. ROA 361. Investigators subsequently spoke to Mr. Gentry. On May 18, Mr. Gentry gave consent to the investigators to search his car and his home. ROA 229. On May 21, he consented to the search of his phone. ROA 236

Investigator William Reece of the Spartanburg County Police Department was the supervisor of the criminal investigations division at the time of these events. ROA 223. He reviewed the phone call details on the phones and conducted a search of Mr. Gentry's car and home. ROA 223. While searching Mr. Gentry's car, police found a partial box with TulAmmo in his glove box with a .40 caliber Smith and Wesson pistol. ROA 231. Law enforcement also found an additional empty box of TulAmmo on the floorboard. ROA 230. Additionally, during a search of his home, law enforcement found a Smith and Wesson box under his bed. ROA 234. Although the gun recovered by the police could have been a match to the bullet found at the crime scene, Michele Eichenmiller, a SLED forensic firearms examiner testified that "thousands, if not hundreds of thousands of Smith and Wesson .40 caliber pistols exist in the possession of Americans today.

Probably “thousands” in South Carolina alone. ROA 300. Additionally, they are not illegal to own, and a Mr. Gentry purchased this weapon, as evidenced by a March 20, 2017 receipt introduced at trial. ROA 384, 399. A search of Tremaine Johnson's car did not produce anything of any evidentiary value. ROA 190.

Searches were conducted on the cell phones of Mr. Gentry and Mr. Johnson. Investigator A.J. Smith of the City of Spartanburg was asked to look for any information in reference to Johnson and Wiles having a relationship. Investigator Reece also looked for communications between Wiles and Johnson. ROA 225.

On April 5, 2018, their communications began. ROA 244. On May 1, Bree began to suspect that she was pregnant. ROA 246. Bree indicated she believed Mr. Johnson was acting different towards her. “Hey. I don’t like how you’ve been acting towards me. I didn’t do anything wrong, and I just feel since you treat me like a random bitch, I don’t feel a need for us to talk anymore.” ROA 248. The two continued to communicate about their relationship and the baby for the next few days. ROA 249-255. Investigator Reece testified that Johnson conducted internet searches for abortion clinics on May 2. ROA 251. Later he conducted a search for “Is the poisonous in a granddaddy long leg?” ROA 253, ll. 7-8. On May 3, he searched for “what can you-- what can you take to get rid of a baby in your stomach?” and “Mifeprex or Mifeprexon.” ROA 253. Later, on May 3rd, Johnson conducted searches for “poison” and “types of poison” and “Poison ivy” and “Poison that can kill you for sale.” ROA 255.

On May 5th, there were communications from Wiles to Johnson that her mother had purchased a diaper disposal pail for the baby. ROA 257.

Later that day, there was an exchange where Wiles indicated there was something "called early D.N.A. and I would have to pay \$400 to \$800." Since there was a possibility of a miscarriage she wanted to wait until she was 5 months pregnant. ROA 258.

On May 7th, Wiles sent Johnson a picture of her stomach. ROA 259.

On May 8th, Wiles had a conversation with her cousin Jeremy at 10:46pm. ROA 260. She said she was "scared to see her" referring to her mother. Jeremy responded, "I know. But you can do it. She's a Christian mother." ROA 261. Shortly after that, Wiles sent a message to Johnson that said: "You know what. Fuck you! I should have told you to your face. I'm not going to disrespect your mom like that. I don't need you in my child's life. Let me tell you one thing now. You-- I'll-- don't try to come back! You said what you said." ROA 261. At 11:00 pm, she stated: "Nothing else I can forgive you for. Good bye. You're blocked." ROA 261. Johnson responded, "Shut up. Ain't nobody outta the child's life. I didn't have nothing else to say." That message was not read by Wiles. ROA 262.

On the morning of May 9th, communications began between Mr. Johnson and Mr. Gentry via Facebook Messenger. The two spoke on the phone once that day for a minute and 25 seconds. ROA 264. The two continued to stay in contact sparingly over the next few days. As they were messaging back and forth, their phone correspondences were deleted by Mr. Gentry. ROA 273. The Facebook messages, however, were not deleted. ROA 300. According to Mr. Reece, although messages are deleted, they are unable to see when messages or calls were deleted or how many were deleted at once. ROA 303, 309. Cellebrite, the software program used by law enforcement to extract the cell phone data, can only identify that calls and text messages were deleted. ROA 298. Johnson

used Daniel Hines's phone at 9:07 to call Wiles. The call connected and they spoke for 6 minutes and 58 seconds. ROA 268.

On May 9th, 2018, at 9:31, Wiles called Johnson's phone and they spoke for a minute and 35 seconds. ROA 268. At 10:17pm, Johnson messaged Gentry and asked "what you doing?" ROA 269. Ms. Sidney Dean spoke to Johnson at 11:48 and they spoke for 10 minutes. ROA 271.

On May 10th, Gentry sent a message to Johnson that said, "All right. I'm up. About to head to work." ROA 271. At 10:36 Gentry began to conduct internet searches on "It's cheaper than dirt", "cheap guns" "Bulk ammo," "guns, parts and accessories, "Cheaper than dirt." ROA 272. Reece testified that "Cheaper than dirt" is a website for purchasing weapons. ROA 272. At 10:44, Johnson reached out to Gentry to see where he was. Johnson conducted an internet search to get an address for Gentry's work location. ROA 273. At 11:16, Johnson sent Gentry a message asking him to step outside of work for a second. ROA 273. Gentry responds, "Shit. What's up?" ROA 273. Johnson attempted to call Gentry, and they spoke for 16 seconds. ROA 274. At 12:41, Gentry conducts additional internet searches, "sell items cheaper than dirt," "handguns for sale. Pistols, revolvers, 9mms, cheaper than dirt, diamond back a.m., semi auto pistol, 9 mm, barrel, 15-round Ameriglo, night site, stainless steel, slide, Palmer frame, flat dark earth finish with the serial number." Gentry continued to look up numerous other search terms associated with guns. ROA 275. At 2:18, he searched "only 11 states require gun owners to report stolen weapons to police. My pistol was stolen." ROA 276.

On May 10th at 2:56, Johnson sent Gentry a message that stated, "do it today, Fam! Happened two days ago." ROA 276. Gentry responded "Iat" (or, all right). ROA 276.

Then, at 3:03, Bree's mother sent a message to Johnson to ask if he had seen Bree.

At 3:05- 3:15, Gentry searches for "report firearm. Theft or loss. Alcohol, tobacco, firearms and explosives." ROA 277.

At 4:43, Johnson responds to Ms. Wiles's text and stated, "Hey. How are you doing? No. I haven't. Not since in a couple of days ago. Is everything okay?"

At 12:39am, Johnson sent a text to Bree that stated, "Hey. Are you okay? Where you at." ROA 279. Johnson then called Gentry and they spoke for 1 minute and 26 seconds. ROA 279.

Although the two began to speak on May 9, according to Mr. Reece, there was never a mention of any gun or firearm of any sort.

Q: Now, there is nothing in the texts or Facebook messages between Gentry about a gun or firearm of any kind?

A: No sir.

Q: There are no any texts or facebook messages between Gentry and Johnson even using slang word, slang words for gun... There's nothing like that in the text between the two.

A: Correct.

Q: There's nothing about Johnson wanting to get a gun.

A: No, sir.

Q: Nothing about Johnson wanting to get a gun from Gentry.

A: Correct.

Q: Nothing about can I borrow a gun.

A: Correct.

Q: Nothing about Johnson asking Gentry whether he had a gun.

A: Right.

Q: There's also nothing in the texts or Facebook messages between Gentry and Johnson about the return of a gun.

A: Correct

ROA 293-294.

R.C. Clay Simmonds of SLED was qualified as an expert, without objection, in cellular data analysis and cell tower analysis. ROA 329. He began his analysis of the cellular data on May 9, based on his communication with the investigators in the case. ROA 339. At 10:18pm, Johnson's telephone was utilizing Tower 61320, Sector 3. Ms. Wiles's phone utilized the same tower at 11:23, 11:25, and 11:27pm. This is the tower that services Duncan Park area of Spartanburg. ROA 346. All three of those calls went to voice mail. ROA 348. At 11:24pm, Johnson's phone moved to Tower 62603, Sector 1. It returned to Tower 61320 using sector 2 later. On cross-examination, Simmonds testified that the use of cellular data "isn't GPS," it's "just a general area." ROA 351, ll. 5-7.

Sidney Dean was a female friend of Johnson's. She spoke to him May 9 at 11:48. Tr. 368. He testified he seemed "like he was off. He didn't really want to talk to me." ROA 368, ll. 23-24. She never spoke to him again. ROA 369.

Caprice Alo is Robert Gentry's child's mother. ROA 371. She was living with Gentry's mother at the time. On the night of May 9, Gentry, she, and Gentry's mother had a barbeque. Johnson came by the house around 4:00 or 5:00pm. ROA 374. Johnson and Gentry spoke in the road. ROA 374. Gentry met Johnson at his car. She did not observe anything between the two. Johnson was there for less than five minutes. ROA 375.

Michele Eichenmiller from SLED was qualified as an expert in firearms examination. ROA 389. No gun was ever recovered in this case, but she was able to testify that only one manufacturer makes firearms with the specifications of the bullet that was found in the victim. She opined that

Smith & Wesson was the only brand who could have fired the bullet in this case. ROA 395. She noted there were "thousands, if not hundreds of thousands" of Smith & Wesson .40 caliber pistols in the United States and "still probably thousands" in South Carolina alone. ROA 399, ll. 17-19.

At trial, Ms. Donna Money testified as an expert witness in DNA analysis without objection. ROA 402, 403. During this testimony, she spoke about four of the items she tested for DNA evidence. Exhibit 1 – the buccal swab from Tremaine Johnson, Exhibit 2 – the shell casing from the crime scene, Exhibit 3 – the spot of blood from the crime scene, Exhibit 4 – a swab off some keys that were found at the crime scene and Exhibit 9 – the fetus recovered from Bree Wiles. ROA 404, 405, 408. Exhibit 1 was used as DNA of Mr. Johnson to compare to the other exhibits in an attempt to find any physical evidence to connect him to this crime. After examination of Exhibit 2, the shell casing, Ms. Money concluded that there was no usable DNA from the casing. ROA 409. Exhibit 3, the blood spot from the scene, came back as a match to the DNA of Bree Wiles. The same was concluded for Exhibit 4, the key found three feet from her body. The only evidence that tied Mr. Johnson to this murder was the fact that DNA concluded that he was the father of the child found in Bree Wiles. This evidence, however, was not discovered until 2021. ROA 414. A previous DNA test conducted in 2018 was inconclusive. ROA 414. It was only as a result of the advancement of technology that paternity could be established.

Mr. Johnson had no connection to the gun, and there was no evidence that he saw Bree Wiles on the night that she died. On June 17, 2021, the jury returned a guilty verdict charging Mr. Johnson with the murder of Bree Wiles.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by not granting Johnson’s motion for a directed verdict because the evidence adduced at trial was not sufficient to show more than a mere suspicion that Johnson was responsible for the murder of the victim.

At the close of the State’s case, trial counsel motioned the trial court for a directed verdict. ROA 447. The trial court denied the motion. ROA 458-59. The trial court erred because the evidence presented at trial was not sufficient to submit the case to the jury. As is well-established under South Carolina law, a case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial “if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000). *See also State v. Williams*, 321 S.C.327, 332, 468 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1996). “The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict...” *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452-53 (1984). Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt. *Id.* at 133, 322 S.E.2d at 452 (citing *State v. Manis*, 214 S.C. 99, 51 S.E.2d 370 (1949)).

In *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court, analyzing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, found that the State’s evidence only raised a suspicion of guilt that Bostick committed the crime. The State’s case consisted of the following evidence: (1) the decedent’s car keys, calculator, and other items from her home were found in the Bostick family’s burn pile; (2) the fire in the burn pile was accelerated with either kerosene or diesel fuel, and Bostick’s mother did not use those accelerants when she burned things in the pile; (3) Bostick had a pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was the

accelerant used for the house fire; and (4) while the DNA from the blood found on Bostick's jeans excluded about ninety-nine percent of the population, the blood could not be matched to the decedent's DNA. Also, the weapon used to kill the decedent was never introduced into evidence, and there was no evidence introduced to show that Bostick had knowledge the decedent may have had money in the briefcase or if any money was, in fact, in the briefcase on that date. *Id.* at 141-42, 708 S.E.2d 778.

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