STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 12 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

*On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Unpublished Opinion No. 2025-UP-018*

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

vs.

Tremaine Pierre Johnson.....Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2025-000531

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner has failed to challenge the Court of Appeals' finding that his one direct appeal issue was procedurally barred from review. That holding is now the law of the case and bars relief. Thus, certiorari review of the barred issue is not warranted since no relief may be granted.

Petitioner has failed to show a case that warrants a grant of this Court's discretionary review, primarily because he fails to challenge the procedural bar found by the Court of Appeals.

A. Petitioner Has Not Appealed the Finding his Issue is Procedurally Barred

"A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion." Rule 242(b), SCACR. In considering a petition to exercise discretionary review, this Court is generally guided by certain weighty factors such as whether there is a "novel question[] of law" at issue; or a dissenting opinion; or the decision is in "conflict with a prior decision of" this Court; or a petitioner shows that there are "substantial constitutional" questions "directly involved" or "a federal question is included and the decision by the Court of Appeal" runs contrary to precedent from the Supreme Court of the United States. *Id.* Petitioner cannot show any of these weighty considerations here. Respondent suggests another substantial consideration is at issue here : can the petitioner receive any relief? Here Petitioner cannot as he has failed to appeal the procedural bar to his issue.

"This Court will not issue advisory opinions on questions for which no meaningful relief can be granted." *Gainey v. Gainey*, 279 S.C. 68, 69, 301 S.E.2d 763, 764 (1983). "[S]hould the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court's decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case." *Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015). "Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the

case.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010)). Thus, “failure to appeal an alternative ground of the judgment below will result in affirmance.” *Sloan v. Dep’t of Transp.*, 365 S.C. 299, 307, 618 S.E.2d 876, 880 (2005). See also *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) (“Failure to argue is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal.”). Simply, “[a]n unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) citing *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 432, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010)).

Here, Petitioner does not argue the procedural bar found by the Court of Appeals should be reconsidered. Therefore, the issue is an unappealed ruling which, in this case, is dispositive. Relief may not be granted on an unpreserved issue. Indeed, “[t]his Court ... has routinely held the plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.” *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) citing *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997)). Rather, a party must properly preserve an issue under our procedural rules to be afforded merits review on appeal. *Id.*

Further, the record shows that the Court of Appeals correctly found the issue was procedurally barred. “An objection must be made on a specific ground.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 481, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011). “A general directed verdict motion, however, does not preserve any issue for appeal.” *State v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 612, 723 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2012). The Court of Appeals expressly held the directed verdict issue presented “was not preserved for appeal because” Petitioner “did not articulate *any* specific grounds in his motion.” *Johnson, supra* (emphasis added). The records support the Court’s conclusion. At the conclusion of evidence,

Johnson's trial counsel made the following motion for directed verdict for the charge of murder:

I would move for a directed verdict at this time. Your Honor, I do not believe the state has met its burden of proof regarding the charge of murder, and I would ask the Court to dismiss this action.

R. p. 447, lines 11-15. Trial counsel failed to argue which element of the crime, or what particular fact, was insufficiently shown. However, the analysis of the Court of Appeals' opinion on this point is not necessary. That Petitioner failed to preserve the issue is now law of the case. This Court should deny the petition because the issue is procedurally barred, and no relief may be granted.

B. Even If the Issue Was Procedurally Available, It Fails on the Merits

The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that there was sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury. Because the record fully and fairly supports that conclusion, even if the issue was available, it would fail to support relief.

“If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *State v. Harris*, 413 S.C. 454, 457, 776 S.E.2d 365, 366 (2015) quoting *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 542, 713 S.E.2d 591, 599 (2011)). “If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292–93, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). “[I]n ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a

reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016).¹

The records established that Victim’s decomposing body was found in Duncan Park on May 11, 2018. Joann Littlejohn, Victim’s great aunt, testified Victim had only recently before her death discovered she was pregnant – Victim was excited and so was her mother. R. p. 133. Littlejohn testified Victim and Fontae Wiles (Mother) were waiting in front of Littlejohn’s house at about 8:00 p.m. on May 9. Victim and Mother wanted to show her an outfit Mother planned to wear for Littlejohn’s sixtieth birthday party. Victim, engaged in a loud telephone conversation, sat on the hood of the car when Littlejohn arrived. Victim seemed anxious. She ended the phone call, and subsequently Victim asked Littlejohn to make her chicken quesadillas, a favorite meal. R. p. 127. Downstairs in the kitchen, Littlejohn heard a loud discussion between Mother and Victim, then Victim came downstairs, saying she was leaving to meet someone. Littlejohn did not even finish preparing the quesadillas Victim requested. Littlejohn rhetorically asked where she would go this time of night and added, “This is quite late for a young lady to go out this time of night.” R. pp. 127-28. After going upstairs to ask Mother what was going on, Littlejohn ran out after Victim, but Victim drove away. R. p. 129. Littlejohn testified Victim’s mother called Victim twice, Littlejohn heard the second phone conversation on speaker phone. Mother implored Victim to come home, Victim said I am coming. Littlejohn heard a male voice in the background say, “Come on, we gotta go,” shortly before Victim hung up. R. pp. 129-30. The next day Littlejohn

¹ Petitioner relies on the Court of Appeals’ opinion in *Bennett*. (Pet., at 15). This Court reversed the Court of Appeals in *Bennett* finding the Court of Appeals incorrectly weighed the evidence. Petitioner invites that same error here. Simply, “although the *jury* must consider alternative hypotheses, the *court* must concern itself solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt.” *Bennett*, at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354.

helped Mother try to find Victim. R. pp. 130-32.

Fontae Wiles (Mother), testified after they arrived at the house and went inside, Victim received two phone calls for her to meet the caller at the park by the water. R. pp. 137-39. Mother told Victim not to go, but Victim left. After Victim left the house, Mother called Victim twice, and testified that in the second phone call, she heard a male voice in the background. R. pp. 139-40. The next day, when she did not receive her usual noontime phone call from Victim, her concerns rose further. She looked for Victim after work. She went to Johnson's house and spoke to his mother, who called Johnson. His mother's eyes got big as she spoke with Johnson. She put Johnson on speakerphone. He claimed to have not seen her since Tuesday, and Mother replied that was not true, she saw him Wednesday night. He stuttered in response and she told him she was going to the sheriff's office. R. pp. 140-43. Mother was at the police station filing a missing person's report on May 11 when she learned her daughter's body was discovered. R. p. 144. Mother identified Victim's purse that was left in Victim's car. The car was left in the park's parking lot. R. p. 145; p. 151.

Officer Shane Michael Cloran went to Victim's car, where he found a purse positively identified by Mother as Victim's. He then followed the canine tracking team as it made its way to the deceased. Next, he flagged and photographed items of evidence along the trail, including two shoes, a set of keys, shell casings, and blood located by the shore. R. pp. 174-75. A TulAmmo 40 caliber casing lay near where one of the shoes was found. R. pp. 176-78. The deceased woman's tattoos matched the description the family provided to the officers. R. p. 185. During the autopsy, Victim was determined to be pregnant, and the fetus was removed from the body. R. p. 186.

Law enforcement later searched Gentry's vehicle and found a box of 40 caliber TulAmmo and also a 40-caliber pistol magazine in the glove box. R. p. 230. In Gentry's house, law

enforcement found a half empty box of the same ammunition and an empty box for a Smith and Wesson handgun that showed the caliber of the handgun and its serial number. R. p. 231; p. 234. A custodian from Academy Sports verified Gentry bought a Smith and Wesson 40 caliber pistol on March 20, 2017. R. pp. 380-81 p. 384. As shown below, messages between Johnson and Gentry, and firearms related searches by Gentry, provide evidence that Gentry provided Johnson the firearm used to murder Victim, and Gentry provided assistance after the fact in attempting to hide the disposition of the weapon.

State's Exhibit 21, a summary of cell phone records, text messages, and internet searches collected in the case, provides a chronology of the progression of the disputes between Johnson and his victim, and the fatal outcome on the night of May 9, at the park, a mere nine days after Victim determined she was pregnant. The chronology in State's Exhibit 21 is discussed below:

May 1: Victim thinks she is pregnant, does not like Johnson's reaction.

On May 1, at around 5:00 a.m., Victim sent a text to Johnson telling him, "I calculated my period." R. p. 246. This led to a discussion in which Johnson said Victim could take a pregnancy test the next day. R. pp. 247-48. This also starts showing the disagreement brewing when Victim texts at 10:18, "Hey. I don't like how you've been acting towards me. I didn't do anything wrong, and I just feel since you treat me like a random bitch I don't feel a need for us to talk anymore." R. p. 248, lines 12-16. A series of texts between them led to Victim remonstrating, "By your actions. Your actions are making me feel unwanted and uncared for." R. p. 249, lines 17-19. Another text from Victim informs Johnson, "You're a good talker with no game. You only make time for who you want and I'm definitely not that person. I understand we both busy and everything, but I'm not going to sit here and let you ignore me like that." R. p. 250, lines 1-4.

May 2: Johnson wants Victim to have an abortion, Victim disagrees, Johnson

researches the poisonous qualities of a harvestman (an arachnid known as a daddy long-legs).

It becomes clear Johnson and Victim carried diametrically opposed views of her pregnancy: At 12:36 p.m., Johnson searched “abortion clinic” on his phone, but obviously picking up a prior conversation, at 10:56 p.m. Victim texted, “What if your ma aborted you?” R. p. 251; p. 252, lines 16-19; State’s Exhibit 21. He responded he just would not be here. She responded, at 11:00 p.m., “S.M.H. [shaking my head], there’s no talking to you.” R. pp. 252-53; State’s Exhibit 21.

At 11:02 p.m. Johnson conducted an internet search: “Is the poisonous in a granddaddy long leg?” Johnson also responded to Victim’s text: “That’s the truth, and, no, it’s you. S.M.H.” R. p. 253, lines 3-14; State’s Exhibit 21.

May 3: Johnson researches abortion methods, after Victim tells Johnson the due date for the baby, Johnson researches lethal poison for sale.

The next morning, May 3, Johnson undertook a new round of internet searches around 5:00 a.m.: “what can you take to get rid of a baby in your stomach?” R. p. 253, line 20-21. He searched for Mifeprex, an abortion pill, and examined whether it was for sale on EBay. R. p. 253, line 20 – p. 254, line 7; State’s Exhibit 21.

Victim attempted to call Johnson that morning, but the call did not go through. She texted at 11:43 a.m., “Just to give you info. I am a month and a week. The baby’s due date is on or before or after Jan. 5th. Just felt like you need to know even if you don’t care right now. Have a blessed day.” R. p. 254, line 15-22.

Later in the evening, Johnson conducts the following searches: “Poison” “Types of poison.” “Poison Ivy” “Poison that can kill you for sale.” R. p. 255, lines 3-8. He then contacts Victim at 9:39 p.m., with an i-message that was just a question mark. She responds W.Y.D. [what

are you doing?]. She follows up: “I actually want us to be able to sit down and talk about ways we can cope.” R. p. 255, lines 9-25. A further exchange of communication suggests an attempt to reconcile, leading to Victim informing Johnson, “Not tomorrow though. It’ll have to be Saturday.” R. pp. 256-57.

May 5: Victim is excited about the baby, Johnson plays along.

The next day sees little contact between them, but on May 5, Victim sends a message, “What my mom bought for the baby” and a second message, “A diaper disposal pail.” R. p. 257, lines 8-25. Johnson replies, “Hi. Okay. She ready” and Victim adds, “It’s right. L.O.L. She excited. We going to Baby R Us today.” R. p. 258, lines 1-7. Victim sent a picture of her stomach, commenting she had a “little pudge.” R. p. 258, line 25 – p. 259, line 7.

May 8: Victim is anxious about telling Johnson’s mother, but the visit ends with argument between Johnson and Victim, and Victim blocks Johnson’s phone.

On May 8, Victim called Johnson, but it did not appear to go through, followed by a text message telling Johnson she is on her way home. Johnson responds he is home. They agree she should go over to his house, and she indicates she will be on her way there in half an hour. A few minutes later, Johnson tells Victim he is helping his mother with something. At 10:31 p.m., Victim advises she is outside. R. pp. 259-60.

At 10:46 p.m., Victim carries on a conversation with her cousin, telling her cousin she was scared to see “her.” The cousin responds, “I know. But you can do it. She’s a Christian mother.” R. p. 260, line 23 – p. 261, line 5. Therefore, from the context, it appears she anticipated Johnson and Victim telling Johnson’s mother the news of the pregnancy.

There is clearly an argument and the line of communication between Johnson and Victim concludes bitterly at 10:59 p.m. with Victim texting Johnson:

You know what. Fuck you! I should have told you to your face. I'm not going to disrespect your mom like that. I don't need you in my child's life. Let me tell you one thing now. . . . [D]on't try to come back! You said what you said,

R. p. 261, lines 6-21. Victim's next text told Johnson he was blocked, and she actually blocked his number. R. p. 261, line 16 – p. 262, line 2. Johnson does not respond that night.

May 9: Johnson finds out Victim blocked Johnson and does not want him in the baby's life. Johnson sends an angry reply and contacts Gentry for the first time within the hour – they repeatedly communicate for the next couple of days. Johnson convinces Victim to unblock him, she goes to the park, his phone uses the same cell tower, she never leaves the park.

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